
Simon W. Baker   B.Ed  MBA  MISPAL
Chief Executive

LICENSING & REGULATORY COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Friday, 30 November 2018

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: The Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek

23 November 2018

PART 1
1. Apologies for absence, if any. 

2. Minutes of the Meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee held on 9 March 
2018 (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Urgent items of business, if any. 

4. Declarations of interest, if any. 

5. Gambling Policy Update (Pages 7 - 54)

6. Review of Implementation of Personnel Checks (Pages 55 - 62)

7. Licensing Enforcement Activity (Pages 63 - 66)

8. Chair/Members' Questions/Issues. 

9. Date of Next Meeting - 1 March 2019 

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Membership of Licensing & Regulatory Committee
Councillor L D Lea (Chair) Councillor P Jackson (Vice-Chair)
Councillor D Grocott Councillor B A Hughes
Councillor K J Jackson Councillor B Johnson
Councillor I Lawson Councillor G Lockett
Councillor M A Lovatt Councillor M M Lovatt
Councillor I J Lucas Councillor D Shaw

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

LICENSING & REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING

Minutes

FRIDAY, 9 MARCH 2018
PRESENT: Councillor L D Lea (Chair) 

Councillors B A Hughes, P Jackson, B Johnson, I Lawson, 
G Lockett, M M Lovatt and I J Lucas

IN ATTEDNANCE:

APOLOGIES: Councillors D Grocott and D Shaw

41 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE HELD ON 14 DECEMBER 2017

RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory 
Committee held on 14 December 2018 be approved as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair.

42 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS, IF ANY.

There were none.

43 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY.

There were no declarations made.

44 CHAIR/MEMBERS' QUESTIONS/ISSUES.

The Vice Chair requested an update on the proposed Cumulative Impact Area (CIA) 
for Leek Town Centre. It was explained that the consultation has now been 
completed. The Police required a further period of time to collate evidence and 
receive legal advice. A meeting would be arranged in April for the Committee to 
consider all of the facts.

45 LICENSING ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY OCTOBER 2017 TO MARCH 2018

The Committee received a report on Licensing Service enforcement actions for the 
period October 2017 to March 2018. The details were as follows:-

Frequency Enforcement Activity 
40 Letters/Emails to Taxi Drivers - reminder letters to renew. 

Hackney, Private Hire, Operators. 
0 Driver Penalty Points Awarded. 
75 Temporary Event Notices Issued.  
8 Compliance checks (off licences) Unlicensed activities, noise, 

breach of conditions and underage concerns. 
8 Follow up letters and 1 minor variation. Page 3

Agenda Item 2



Licensing & Regulatory Committee - 9 March 2018

2

9 Notice checks for new premises applications and applications to 
Vary licenses including revisits. 

1 Joint Multi Agency Enforcement visits to alcohol licensed premises 
with the police, trading standards to deal with general compliance 
and reported breaches of licensing conditions and excessive 
noise, Evening enforcement with Staffs Police in Leek mainly for 
observation purposes. 

1 Attendance at Pub watch Meeting in Cheadle (Biddulph & Leek).

The primary focus of enforcement work to date had been on ensuring that the law in 
relation to all relevant licensing legislation and guidance was properly observed. In 
considering the focus of this activity the Licensing service had had reference to:-

 Those premises/vehicles against which complaints had been 
received;

 Those premises which did not hold a licence but where intelligence 
suggested licensable activity was taking place.

A variety of breaches were identified in the course of these activities, but were 
addressed by a voluntary change of behaviour on the part of the licence holder or via 
specific action by the Licensing Service and partners. In none of the cases was 
further legal action or the application of criminal sanction necessary. 

During this period no complaints had been received relating to smoking on licensed 
premises, specifically:-

 As part of the Health Act 2006 and associated Regulations, 
premises had to comply with signage requirements.  All premises 
visited were now compliant with displaying the required signage;

  
 No fixed penalty tickets in relation to offences of witnessed or 

reported smoking in premises had been issued.

Members reported that they had been aware of delays with the renewal of taxi  
licenses and that drivers had experienced difficulties accessing information from the 
licensing team. In response to this Alicia Patterson advised that she wasn’t aware of 
any delays, however, she would look into this after the meeting. 

A new policy had recently been introduced which required drivers to give 2-3 weeks 
notice for the renewal of licenses. 

RESOLVED – That the report be NOTED.

46 MEMBER TRAINING - INCLUDING EXPEDITED REVIEW TRAINING

Alicia Patterson, Operations Manager, Environmental Services, introduced a 
presentation to Members which covered the following subject areas:-

 Licensable Activities
 Types of Authorisation
 Objections Page 4



Licensing & Regulatory Committee - 9 March 2018

3

 Licensing is open for business
 Determination of Applications
 Licencing Sub-Committee Hearings
 Appeals
 Review of Licenses
 Expedited Reviews
 Why Call a Review
 Next Steps with an Expedited Review
 Matters to Consider
 Interim Measures
 Full Review
 Reviews and Hearings
 Working, Supporting and Training Together

Discussion took place around the number of times premises were using Temporary 
Event Notices to extend opening hours and how this was managed by the Council. 
Members felt that such notices were being abused and requested that a letter be 
sent to the Government.

Other queries were raised such as the licensing requirements for home brewers on 
markets and for the administration of botox. The Committee was advised that the 
Council’s Food Safety Team would inspect home brewers and the owner would be 
required to apply for a Temporary Event Notice or Street Licence. The Council did 
not issue licences for the use of botox due to this being an unregulated activity. It 
was most likely for these types of premises to carry out other treatments which 
would require a licence and if any issues were reported then a Health and Safety 
Inspection would be carried out.

Licensing regulations were evolving and in some circumstances officers relied on 
best practice and guidance with a view to grant provisional licences. Any difficult 
requests could be brought to a Sub-Committee for member approval.

A member of the Committee commented how professional the Licensing staff were 
and was grateful for the excellent advice he had received over a number of years. 

RESOLVED: - 

1) That the presentation be noted.

2) For the Operations Manager, Environmental Services to draft a letter to the 
Government in relation to the over use of Temporary Event Notices.

3) That the Powerpoint presentation be circulated to all members of the 
Committee.

The meeting closed at 11.00 am

Page 5



Licensing & Regulatory Committee - 9 March 2018

4

_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date

Page 6



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Licensing & Regulatory Committee

30 November 2018

TITLE: Gambling Policy Update – Statement of 
Principles 2019-2022 

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: Councillor  Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities, Leisure, Parks, Sport, 
Countryside and Housing

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson - Operations Manager - 
Environmental Services (Regulatory)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific

Appendices Attached – Statement of Principles 2019-2022 (Gambling Act 
2005)

1. Reason for the Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to ensure the Council’s compliance with 
the Gambling Act 2005 by consulting upon and publishing a revised 
Statement of Principles under the Act. 

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the Committee approves the revised Statement of Principles as 
attached at Appendix A, and include the consultation response received 
from The Gambling Commission and note the comments made by 
Gamcare and recommend, as HPBC, the revised policy for 
Full Council approval. 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires that the Council as a 
licensing authority, prepare and publish a Statement of Principles under 
the Act every three years.  The District Council’s Statement of 
Principles is due for renewal in 2019.  The Statement will last for a 3 
year period but may be reviewed at any time prior to this by the Council.

3.2 In response to this requirement a revised Statement of Principles has 
been prepared and is included in Appendix A. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



3.3 It is a further requirement of the Act that a revised policy must be 
approved at a full meeting of the Council.  Such approval cannot be 
granted until consultation has been undertaken with a range of statutory 
bodies defined by the Act and included within the proposed Policy at 
page 4.

3.4 The Consultation was undertaken between the 2nd October 2018 and 
13th November 2018 and is now completed; the Council has received 
two responses as a result of the consultation exercise which are 
detailed below:

 The Gambling Commission offered advice that where the Policy 
does not specify as such, it should contain a reference requiring 
that the Local Risk Assessment prepared by the operator should 
be kept and made available for inspection on the premises by an 
authorised Officer. This can be accommodated within the 
General Principles section on page 10 of the Policy document 
where it refers specifically to the LCCP Part II guidance on Risk 
Assessments and it is recommended that the committee agree 
that this section of the Policy is amended to include a statement 
to this effect.

 A generic response was received from an organisation called 
Gamcare, a national provider of information, advice, support and 
free treatment for anyone affected by problem gambling. The 
content did not specifically relate to the Council’s Policy and 
made only general points about their services and preferences. 
The content of their submission was nevertheless reviewed 
against the content of the Council’s proposed Policy and it was 
found that all pertinent points had been addressed.

4. Options and Analysis

4.1 That members consider the consultation response received from The 
Gambling Commission and incorporate this in the 2019-2022 policy, 
and note the response received from Gamcare (Recommended).

4.2 That members recommend to full council the adoption of the Revised 
Statement of Principles, including the consultation response from The 
Gambling Commission (Recommended). 

4.3 That members do not include the consultation responses received and 
do not incorporate them in the 2019-2022 policy (Not Recommended).

5. Implications

5.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)

The objectives of the Gabling Act seek to ensure that communities 
are protected from unfair trading, crime and disorder and that 
vulnerable people and children are not exploited in any way by 

Page 8



gambling. 

5.2 Workforce

None.

5.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies.

5.4 Financial Considerations

The majority of fees chargeable are fixed at national level with the 
remainder set by individual authorities, it is intended that 
maintenance of the service will be self funding. 

5.5 Legal

The publishing of a Statement of Principles is a legal obligation of 
the Council. 

5.6 Sustainability

No implications. 

5.7 Internal and External Consultation

Consultation requirements have been met and the consultation 
process has been completed.  

5.8 Risk Assessment

No implications. 

Mr Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Alicia Patterson
Operations Manager - 
Environmental Services 
(Regulatory)
alicia.patterson@staffs
moorlands.gov.uk

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Form

NAME OF COUNCIL

SECION 1: Initial Screening

Name of policy1 or function2 being assessed Policy / Function Status
New Revised Existing

Responsible Service Area Date Form Completed

Lead Officer for this Assessment Contact Number

Does the policy or function have any implication or relationship to the Council’s equality 
duties? (See summary on back page) Yes/No/Possibly

Does/Will the policy or function have an impact on the availability, eligibility, quality or cost 
of a service to individuals, households, communities or specific groups of people? 
Yes/No/Possibly

Does/Will the policy or function have an impact on the quality of life of individuals, 
households, communities or specific groups of people? Yes/No/Possibly

Does/Will the policy or function have an impact on the opportunities for individuals, 
households, communities or specific groups of people to improve their lives in some 
specific way? Yes/No/Possibly

If yes/possibly to any of the above questions then please complete section 2.

If No to all the above questions then please provide a brief summary explanation of why the 
policy/function requires no further consideration with respect to the Council’s equality 
duties.

1 Definition of policy = This can include policies, procedures, guidance, strategies and/or plans

2 Definition of function = Broad areas of activity, duties or powers – usually a service or set of services, including 
services which are provided internally

Page 11



2

SECTION 2: 

2.1: Identifying the aims of the policy or function

Summarise: the main aims, objectives and/or purpose and scope of the policy, practice, 
service or function.

Who is/are the intended customer or beneficiary of this policy or function?

Page 12



3

2.2: Evidence of Impact

What evidence or data is being used to inform the Council’s understanding of the impact 
of the decision about this policy or function on equality target groups? (Please list and 
note where the evidence/data is held.)

Note: Evidence from consultation/ engagement is particularly powerful and Appendix 1 includes 
guidance.

Are there gaps/weaknesses in the available evidence/data which limit our understanding 
of the impact? 
Yes/No Detail:

If yes: How significant are these gaps? 
Not Significant – can proceed to 
decision

Justification:

Significant but can proceed to 
decision

Justification & action to be taken:

Significant and requires further 
investigation prior to a decision 
being made. 

Summarise the plan of action:

Page 13



4

2.3: Assessment of impact

Taking into account all the evidence available to you indicate where you think that the policy/function could have an 
intended or unintended negative impact on a particular group: i.e. it could cause some disadvantage. Potential 
discrimination may be direct - i.e. treating someone less favourably because of certain attributes of who they are or 
indirect i.e. when the proposed practice, policy or procedure may have the effect of disadvantaging people who share 
certain protected characteristics. Indicate where you think the policy/function could have an intended or unintended 
positive impact on any of the groups to promoting diversity and equality. Where the policy/function is not relevant to 
a particular group or has no potential impact indicate as neutral. Please give reasons for each outcome:

Protected 
Groups

Negative 
Impact

Positive 
Impact

Neutral 
Impact

Explain impact & state what action can 
be taken (either to mitigate negative impacts or 

enhance positive impacts) .
People of a 
particular age 
such as children, 
young people, 
older people
People with 
disabilities 
including physical 
disabilities, 
sensory 
impairments, 
limiting long-term 
illnesses, learning 
disabilities or 
mental health 
difficulties
Racial / minority 
ethnic groups? 

Women or men 
including those 
living in particular 
communities
Pregnant 
women or 
people on 
maternity or 
paternity leave 
or breastfeeding 
mothers.  
A person’s 
marital status 
including civil 
partnership 
People with a 
particular sexual 
orientation
People with 
particular religion 
or belief
Trans people or 
people planning 
to or going 
through gender 
reassignment

Page 14



5

If there is potential for significant negative impacts on groups with protected characteristics which either cannot be 
mitigated or where there is uncertainty about the efficacy of measures, consideration should be given to 
consultation/engagement (or further consultation and engagement) with those groups of people who may/will be 
impacted. (See appendix for advice and guidance). If further consultation takes place then the Assessment of Impact 
above (2.3) should be done again taking into account the additional evidence.

If an adverse negative impact has been identified and cannot be fully mitigated then does 
the officer consider that it can be justified on grounds of promoting equality of 
opportunity for one group or any other reason? I.e. is it a proportionate response to 
achieve a legitimate and justified aim.  Please explain.

Page 15



6

2.4 Assessing relevance to the public sector Equality Duty

Standing back from the assessment of impact in relation to specific protected groups: are 
there any broader issues which you can identify either negative or positive opportunities 
for the Council to advance equality and foster good relations?

2.5 Summary

Signed (lead officer):  __________________________________________

Date:  

I confirm that the completed Equality Impact Assessment will be published on the Council’s 
website.

I am satisfied that feedback has been given to anyone who was consulted in order for this 
assessment to have been made.

I confirm that the matters set out in the Assessment will be put before Members before any 
decision is made in relation to the subject matter of the Assessment.

Signed (Manager):

Date:

Summarise what actions if any are being recommended or will be taken in order to address 
negative impacts?

Page 16



7

Appendix: Consultation/Engagement

If properly conducted consultation or direct engagement with groups of people who will or may be 
impacted by a service or a decision can provide vital evidence which the Council can use to inform 
its decisions. 

It is critical that consultation is carried out well otherwise the results will be of limited value, 
misleading and could even leave the Council open to legal challenge. You must inform and clear 
your consultation plans with the Democratic and Community Service Team (contact Kerry Towers, 
Assistant Policy officer - Consultation) and, if required complete a Privacy Impact Assessment in 
accord with the Council’s Data Protection Policy.

Planning Consultation

Begin by recalling:

 your function or policy purpose and scope
 who will benefit or be affected by the policy or function (the target population)?
 who might be the excluded or marginalised groups within the target population?

Who is the Council targeting for engagement or consultation?

What impact has the Council already identified or assumed? (You can copy and use section 
2.3 of the equality Impact assessment to help you clarify what you think the impact will be for 
particular groups – this will either be based on current evidence and/or your assumptions)

What potential mitigating measures are proposed or could be explored?

Consultation

 Carryout a consultation, that reaches the identified excluded or marginalised groups.
 Ensure all relevant employees and staff support groups are consulted.
 Review the consultation in terms of inclusivity and equality by asking:

o What are the views of those consulted on the contribution that the function or policy 
makes to equal opportunities and inclusion?

o Are there any differences in responses between different groups?

o Have any new insights been gained about the impact of the policy/function?

o Have any new ideas emerged about effective measure to mitigate any negative effects 
of the policy/function?

o Have any new ideas emerged that could provide the Council with a positive opportunity 
to progress the aims of the General Equality Duty?

 Keep a record of those consulted, together with the responses, any additional evidence and 
your conclusions (above).

Page 17



8

The Equality Duty – a Summary 

The equality duty was developed in order to harmonise the equality duties and to extend it across 
the protected characteristics. It consists of a general equality duty, supported by specific duties 
which are imposed by secondary legislation. In summary, those subject to the equality duty must, 
in the exercise of their functions, have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not.

These are sometimes referred to as the three aims or arms of the general equality duty. The Act 
explains that having due regard for advancing equality involves:

 Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their protected 
characteristics.

 Taking steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups where these are different 
from the needs of other people.

 Encouraging people from protected groups to participate in public life or in other activities 
where their participation is disproportionately low.

The Act states that meeting different needs involves taking steps to take account of disabled 
people's disabilities. It describes fostering good relations as tackling prejudice and promoting 
understanding between people from different groups. It states that compliance with the duty may 
involve treating some people more favourably than others.

The equality duty covers the nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. Public authorities also 
need to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination against someone 
because of their marriage or civil partnership status. This means that the first aim of the duty 
applies to this characteristic but that the other aims (advancing equality and fostering good 
relations) do not apply.

For more information about the Council’s Equality Duty visit the Equality and Human Rights Commission 
website on http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/private-and-public-sector-guidance/public-sector-
providers/public-sector-equality-duty/what-equality-duty or ask legal services to assist you.

 

Page 18

http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/private-and-public-sector-guidance/public-sector-providers/public-sector-equality-duty/what-equality-duty
http://www.equalityhumanrights.com/private-and-public-sector-guidance/public-sector-providers/public-sector-equality-duty/what-equality-duty


Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

1

STAFFORDSHIRE 

MOORLANDS DISTRICT

 COUNCIL

GAMBLING ACT 2005

STATEMENT 
OF PRINCIPLES
2019-2022

Page 19



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

2

Gambling Act 2005
Statement of Principles

Contents

Item Page
1.  The Licensing objectives 3
2.  Introduction 3
3.  Declaration 5
4.  Responsible Authorities 5
5.  Interested Parties 6
6.  Exchange of Information 7
7.  Enforcement 8
8.  Licensing authority functions 9
Part B – Premises licences – Consideration of Licences
1.  General Principles 10
2.  Adult Gaming Centres 17
3.  (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres 18
4.  Casinos 19
5.  Bingo 19
6.  Betting Premises 20
7.  Tracks 21
8.  Travelling fairs 22
9.   Provisional Statements 23
10. Reviews 24
Part C – Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notices
1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 26
2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits 26
3. Prize Gaming Permits 27
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits 28
5. Temporary Use Notices 29
6. Occasional Use Notices 30
7. Small Society Lotteries 30
Appendices
1. Table of Delegations of Licensing Functions 32
2. No Casino Policy 33
3. Map of Staffordshire Moorlands 34
4. Licensing Authority’s Guidance to Operators with Regards to 
Local Area Risk Assessments

35

Important Note:

Any reference made to Guidance issued to Licensing Authorities by the 
Gambling Commission relates to the Fifth Edition released in September 
2015.

Page 20



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

3

1. The Licensing Objectives

In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing 
authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 
of the Act.  The licensing objectives are:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling”.  

This licensing authority is aware that, as per Section 153, in making decisions 
about premises licences and temporary use notices it should aim to permit the 
use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks is:

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy

2.  Introduction

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is situated in the County of 
Staffordshire which contains nine Councils in total.   The district has a 
substantial residential population split between the three main towns of Leek, 
Cheadle and Biddulph with the remainder spread over a large rural area, 
whose amenity the Council has a duty to protect.  A third of the district lies in 
the Peak District National Park, one of Britain’s most visited national parks.  
Two thirds of the 97,106 (2011 census) people who live in the Staffordshire 
Moorlands reside in the market towns, while the rest live in or near the 
district’s many villages, of which the two main population centres are 
Werrington and Blythe Bridge.  The areas covered are shown in the map 
located on page 33.  

Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a 
statement of the principles, which they propose to apply when exercising their 
functions.  This statement must be published at least every three years.  The 
statement must also be reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts 

Page 21



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

4

re-consulted upon. The statement must be then re-published. The previous 
Policy statement was published in 2016.

Staffordshire Moorlands Council will consult widely upon this statement before 
finalising and publishing.  A list of the consultees is provided below. 

The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by 
Licensing Authorities:

 The Chief Officer of Police;

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority’s 
area;

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the 
authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005.

This Licensing Authority will consult with:

 The Chief Constable, Staffordshire Constabulary
 Staffordshire Safeguarding Board, Staffordshire County 
      Council Social Services
 Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Service
 Staffordshire Youth Services
 Staffordshire County Council Trading Standards
 Trade associations as appropriate
 British Beer & Pub Association
 Association of British Bookmakers
 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council elected Members
 All Parish and Town Councils in SMDC
 Leek Chamber of Trade
 All Town Centre Co-ordinators
 Neighbouring local authorities
 All Internal Departments of Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
 All persons who hold Amusement Arcade Permits in Staffordshire 

Moorlands
 All persons who hold Betting Office Permits
 Citizens Advice Bureau
 Relevant debt collection advisory services
 Members of the Public and  Representatives of persons who hold Small 

Society Lottery Registrations in Staffordshire Moorlands (via the website)

The consultation took place between and 2 October 2018 and 
13 November 2018.  This licensing authority followed the HM Government 
Code of Practice on Consultation (published July 2012).

Page 22



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

5

The full list of comments made will be made available upon request to: The 
Licensing Section, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Moorlands 
House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands.   ST13 6HQ.
This policy will be approved at a meeting of the Full Council after consultation. 
Copies will be available for inspection on the website at 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk.

Should you have any comments as regards this statement of principles please 
send them via e-mail or letter to the following contact:

Operations Manager – Regulatory Services
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, 
Leek, Staffordshire.    ST13 6HQ
E-mail:  licensing-1@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

It should be noted that this statement of principles will not override the right of 
any person to make an application, make representations about an 
application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered on 
its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling 
Act 2005.  

3. Declaration

In producing the statement of principles, this licensing authority declares that 
it has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, the 
guidance to licensing authorities issued by the Gambling, and any responses 
from those consulted on the statement.

4. Responsible Authorities

The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 
writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection 
of children from harm.  The principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of 
the licensing authority’s area;

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group.

In accordance with the suggestion in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
local authorities, this authority designates the Staffordshire Area Child 
Protection Committee, Staffordshire County Council for this purpose.

Section 157 of the Act identifies the bodies that are to be treated as 
responsible authorities.  They are as follows:

 The Licensing Authority (Staffordshire Moorlands District Council)
 The Gambling Commission

Page 23

mailto:licensing-1@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

6

 The Chief Officer of Police for Staffordshire
 Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Service
 Local Planning Authority (Staffordshire Moorlands District Council)
 Environmental Health Pollution Section, Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council
 Staffordshire Area Child Protection Services, Staffordshire County Council 

Social Services
 HM Revenue and Customs
 Director of Health and Care for Staffordshire County Council
 Any other person prescribed in regulations by the Secretary of State

The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities under the Gambling Act 
2005 are available via the Council’s website at: www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk

5. Interested parties

Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or 
apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in the 
Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

 “For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an 
application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the 
licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the applications is 
made, the person:

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorised activities;

b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised 
activities; or

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b).

The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will 
apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are:

Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply a rigid 
rule to its decision making.  It will consider the examples of considerations 
provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to licensing authorities at 
8.14 and 8.15, as listed below.

Persons living close to premises
The factors that licensing authorities should take into account when 
determining what ‘sufficiently close to the premises’ means (in each case) 
may include: 

 the size of the premises;
 the nature of the premises;

Page 24



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

7

 the distance of the premises from the location of the person making 
the representation;

 the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes 
likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment);

 the circumstances of the complainant.  This is not the personal 
characteristics of the complainant, but the interests of the complainant 
which may be relevant to the distance from the premises.

Persons with business interests
The factors which this licensing authority will take into account when 
determining what “business interest that might be affected” may include:

 the size of the premises;
 the’catchment’ area of the premises (that is, how far people travel to 

visit the premises);
 whether the person making the representation has business interests 

in that catchment area that might be affected.

This licensing authority will also consider the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance that “business interests” should be given the widest possible 
interpretation and include partnerships, charities, faith groups and medical 
practices.

Interested parties 
Can be persons who are democratically elected such as Councillors and MPs.  
No specific evidence of being asked to represent an interested person will be 
required as long as the Councillor/MP represents the ward likely to be 
affected.  Likewise, Parish Councils likely to be affected will be considered to 
be interested parties.  Other than these, however, this authority will generally 
require written evidence that a person/body (e.g. an advocate/relative) 
‘represents’ someone who either lives sufficiently close to the premises to be 
likely to be affected by the authorised activities and/or has business interests 
that might be affected by the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these 
persons, requesting the representation is sufficient.

If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their 
views then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are 
any doubts, then please contact the licensing department.

6. Exchange of Information

Licensing authorities are required to include in their statements the principles 
to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 
and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and 
the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act 
with the respect to the exchange of information between it and the other 
persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.

Page 25



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

8

The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of 
information which includes the provision that the Data Protection Act 2018 
and the commensurate General Data Protection Regulations will not be 
contravened.  The licensing authority will also have regard to any Guidance 
issued by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities on this matter when 
it is published, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

The Council has a duty to protect the public funds it administers and, to this 
end, may use the information provided for the prevention and detection of 
fraud. It may also share information with other bodies responsible for auditing 
or administering public funds for these purposes, e.g. National Fraud Initiative.

Should any protocols be established as regards information exchange with 
other bodies then they will be made available. 

7. Enforcement 

Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 
to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions 
under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the 
powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in 
respect of the offences specified.

This licensing authority’s principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to local authorities and will endeavour to be:

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when necessary:  
remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified 
and minimised;

 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be 
subject to public scrutiny;

 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and implemented 
fairly;

 Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple 
and user friendly;  and

 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise 
side effects. As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local 
authorities this licensing authority will endeavour to avoid duplication 
with other regulatory regimes so far as possible.  

This licensing authority has adopted and implemented a risk-based 
programme, based on:

 The licensing objectives;
 Relevant codes of practice;
 Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36;

Page 26



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

9

 The principles set out in this statement of licensing policy.   

The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in 
terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the 
premises licences and other permissions which it authorises.  The Gambling 
Commission will be the enforcement body for the operating and personal 
licences, large society lotteries, remote gambling through websites and the 
National Lottery.  Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming 
machines will not be dealt with by the licensing authority but will be notified to 
the Gambling Commission. 

This licensing authority will keep abreast of developments as regards to the 
Regulators’ Compliance Code and the principles of the Legislative and 
Regulatory Reform Act 2006.

Bearing in mind the principle of transparency, the licensing authority’s 
enforcement/compliance protocols/written agreements will be available upon 
request.

8. Licensing Authority functions

Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:

 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are 
to take place by issuing Premises Licences; 

 Issue Provisional Statements; 
 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish to 

undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming Permits 
and/or Club Machine Permits; 

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs;
 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at 

unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres; 
 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing 

Act 2003) or the use of two or fewer gaming machines; 
 Issue Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises licensed 

to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the 
Licensing Act 2003, where there are more than two machines;

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds; 
 Issue Prize Gaming Permits; 
 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices; 
 Receive Occasional Use Notices (for tracks);
 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of 

licences issued (see section above on ‘information exchange);
 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these 

functions.

Page 27



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

10

PART B
PREMISES LICENCES: CONSIDERATION OF APPLICATIONS

1. General Principles 

Premises licences will be subject to the permissions/restrictions set out in the 
Gambling Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default 
conditions which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of 
State.  Licensing authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is believed to be appropriate.

(i)  Decision making
This licensing authority is aware that in making decisions about premises 
licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling:

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives;
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy;
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission.

The Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice 
(LCCP) which were revised and published in February 2015 formalised the 
need for Operators to consider local risks. The LCCP was most recently 
revised in April 2018.

Part II of the LCCP provides:
1 Licensees must assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by 
the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have 
policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In making 
risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified 
in the licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy. 
2 Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk 
assessments: 

a to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, 
including those identified in a licensing authority’s statement of 
licensing policy; 
b when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may 
affect their mitigation of local risks; 
c when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and 
d in any case, undertakes a local risk assessment when applying for a 
new premises licence. 

Part II also provides:
1 Licensees should share their risk assessment with licensing authorities 
when applying for a premises licence or applying for a variation to existing 
licensed premises, or otherwise on request.

Page 28



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

11

The Licensing Authority must provide guidance to operators on what it 
considers should be included in the risk assessments and identify any local 
risks to be considered prior to making an application. The guidance will be 
appended to the Statement of Principles, and may be amended from time to 
time subject to approval by the Licensing Committee.

The Council will expect the local risk assessment to include the below 
considerations as a minimum:

- The location of services for children such as schools, playgrounds, 
leisure/community centres and other areas where children will 
gather;

- The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups;
- Whether the premises is in an area subject to high levels of crime 

and/or disorder;
- How vulnerable people, including those with gambling 

dependencies are protected;
- Any information held regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 

underage gambling;
- Gaming trends that reflect pay day or benefit payments;
- Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street 

drinkers, individuals involved in areas such as ASB, drug dealing 
etc;

- Areas or premises where children are known to congregate 
including bus stops, cafes etc;

- Areas or premises that may be frequented by vulnerable adults 
such as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, 
addiction clinics, places where alcohol or drug dependant 
individuals may congregate. 

In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities 
“moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to reject applications for 
premises licences” (except as regards any ‘no casino resolution’) and also 
that unmet demand is not a criterion for a licensing authority (see section on 
Casinos).

(ii) Definition of “premises” - Premises are defined in the Act as “any place”.  
Section 152 therefore prevents more than one premises licence applying to 
any place, but a single building can be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided they are for different parts of the building and the different 
parts of the building can be reasonably regarded as being different premises.  
This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as a 
pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises 
licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place.  However, licensing 
authorities should pay particular attention if there are issues about sub-
divisions of a single building or plot and should ensure that mandatory 
conditions relating to access between premises are observed.

Page 29



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

12

The Gambling Commission states in its Guidance to Licensing Authorities that

 “In most cases the expectation is that a single building/plot will be the subject 
of an application for a licence, for example, 32 High Street.  But that does not 
mean 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate premises licences for 
the basement and ground floor, if they are configured acceptably.  Whether 
different parts of a building can properly be regarded as being separate 
premises will depend on the circumstances.  The location of the premises will 
clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the division is likely 
to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing officer.  
However, the Commission does not consider that areas of a building that are 
artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable 
partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises”.  

Licensing Authorities should take particular care in considering applications 
for multiple licences for a building and those relating to a discrete part of a 
building used for other (non-gambling) purposes.  In particular they should be 
aware of the following:

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed 
by gambling.  In practice that means not only preventing them from taking 
part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity to 
gambling.  Therefore premises should be configured so that children are 
not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely observe 
gambling where they are prohibited from participating.

 Entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not 
“drift” into a gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to 
access the premises without going through another licensed premises or 
premises with a permit.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 
premises licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the licensing authority should 
be aware of, which may include:

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
 Are neighbouring premises owned by the same person as that 

premises subject to the Gambling Act requirements?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 

passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling 

premises?

This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case.

Page 30



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

13

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each 
premises type are reproduced below:

Casinos
 The principal access entrance to the premises must be from a street; 
 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used wholly or 

mainly by children and/or young persons;
 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any other 

premises which holds a gambling premises licence.

Adult Gaming Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from any 

other licensed gambling premises.

Betting Shops
 Access must be from a street or from another premises with a betting 

premises licence;
 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used for the 

retail sale of any kind and you could not have a betting shop at the 
back of a café’ – the whole area would have to be licensed.

Tracks
 No customer should be able to access the premises directly from:

- a casino
- an adult gaming centre

Bingo Premises
 No customer must be able to access the premise directly from:

- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:

- a casino
- an adult gaming centre
- a betting premises, other than a track

(iii) Premises “ready for gambling”
The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only 
be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied 
are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, 
consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the 
premises are brought into use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, 
or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an 
application for a provisional statement should be made instead.

Page 31



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

14

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration 
process:

 whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling;
 whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to cater for the 

situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought 
to be before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to 
grant such a licence.

(iv) Location - This licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be 
considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in 
terms of the licensing objectives are relevant to its decision making. As per 
the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for licensing authorities, this authority 
will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable 
persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of 
crime and disorder.  Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards 
areas where gambling premises should not be located, this statement will be 
updated.  It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any 
application being made and each application will be decided on its merits, with 
the onus upon the applicant showing how potential concerns can be 
overcome. 

(v)  Planning
The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states that in 
determining applications the licensing authority has a duty to take into 
consideration all relevant matters and not to take into consideration any 
irrelevant matters, i.e. those not related to gambling and the licensing 
objectives.  One example of an irrelevant matter would be the likelihood of the 
applicant obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval for 
their proposal. This authority will not take into account irrelevant matters as 
per the above guidance. 

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, the 
licensing authority should not take into account whether those buildings need 
to or do comply with the necessary planning or building consents.  Those 
matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control and building 
regulation powers, and not form part of the consideration for the premises 
licence.  Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into 
account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or 
building consent when considering a premises licence application.  Equally 
the grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevent any 
action that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.

(vi) Duplication with other regulatory regimes – This licensing authority 
seeks to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems where 

Page 32



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

15

possible, including planning.  This authority will not consider whether a licence 
application is likely to be awarded planning permission or building regulations 
approval, in its consideration of it.  It will though listen to, and consider 
carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.

When dealing with a premises licence application for finished buildings, this 
authority will not take into account whether those buildings have to comply 
with the necessary planning or building consents.  Fire or health and safety 
risks will not be taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under 
relevant planning control, buildings and other regulations and must not form 
part of the consideration for the premises licence.

Licensing objectives - Premises licences granted must be reasonably 
consistent with the licensing objectives.  With regard to these objectives, this 
licensing authority has considered the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
local authorities and some comments are made below.

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission takes a 
leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, where an area has known high 
levels of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether 
gambling premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions 
may be suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This licensing 
authority is aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will 
consider such factors (for example whether police assistance was required 
and how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see it) so as to 
make that distinction.  

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

This licensing authority has noted that the Gambling Commission has stated 
that it would generally not expect licensing authorities to become concerned 
with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, as this will 
be addressed via operating and personal licences.  There is however, more of 
a role with regard to track gambling which is explained in more detail in the 
‘tracks’ section (see page 20).

Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling

This licensing authority has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance for 
local authorities states that this objective means preventing children from 
taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of advertising so that gambling 
products are not aimed at or are, particularly attractive to children).  The 

Page 33



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

16

licensing authority will therefore consider, as suggested in the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance, whether specific measures are required at particular 
premises, with regard to this licensing objective.  Appropriate measures may 
include supervision of entrances/machines, segregation of areas, use of 
‘Challenge 25’ principles etc.

As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that neither the Gambling 
Commission nor the Council is seeking to offer a definition but will, for 
regulatory purposes, assume that this group includes people who gamble 
more than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means and people 
who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling 
due to mental health needs, learning disability or substance misuse relating to 
alcohol or drugs. The Council will consider this licensing objective on a case 
by case basis having regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission. Should a practical definition prove possible in future then this 
policy statement will be updated with it, by way of a revision.

Conditions - Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will 
be:

 relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
      facility;
 directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for;
 fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and
 reasonable in all other respects. 

Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will 
consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc.  There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below.  This 
licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to way in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.

This authority will also consider specific measures, which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences.  Such measures 
may include the supervision of entrances; segregation of gambling from non-
gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming 
machines in non-adult gambling specific premises in order to pursue the 
licensing objectives.  These matters are in accordance with the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance.  

This authority will also ensure that where category C or above machines are 
on offer in premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which is 
separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which 
is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located;

Page 34



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

17

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by the staff or the licence holder; and
 at the entrance to and inside any such areas there are prominently 

displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to 
persons under 18.

These considerations will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable.

This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 
than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area 
of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing 
authority will consider the impact upon the third licensing objective and the 
need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that 
children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to 
enter.

Conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises licences 
are:

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply 
with an operating licence condition; 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation;

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required 
(the Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the membership requirement 
for casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated; 
and

 Conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes.

Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in Guidance for local 
authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises may 
attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for example 
by children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances to the 
premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a 
premises licence to this effect.

Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for 
particular cases, a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or 
not will be necessary.  It will not be automatically assumed that they need to 
be licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types of premises vary.

 
2. Adult Gaming Centres
This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient 

Page 35



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

18

measures to, for example, ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access 
to the premises.

This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such 
      as GamCare.
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises.

This licensing authority notes that the holder of an Adult Gaming Centre 
premise licence may make available for use a number of category B gaming 
Machines not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which 
are available for use on the premises.  Premises in existence before 13 July 
2011 are entitled to make available four category B gaming machines, or 20% 
of the total number of gaming machines, which ever is the greater.  A licence 
variation may be required if operators wishing to take advantage of this 
change in legislation need to make alterations to the structure/layout of the 
premises.

The holder of an Adult Gaming Centre premise licence granted on or after 13 
July 2011, but before 1 April 2014, is entitled to make available a maximum of 
four category B machines or 20% of the total number of gaming machines 
whichever is the greater; however, from 1 April 2014 these premises will be 
entitled to 20% of the total number of gaming machines only.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres:
This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect 
children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling 
and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority, for example, that there 
will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have 
access to the adult only gaming machine areas. 

This licensing authority will expect applicants to offer their own measures to 
meet the licensing objectives; however appropriate measures/ licence 
conditions may cover issues such as:

Page 36



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

19

 CCTV
 Door supervisors
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices/signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for organisations such 

as GamCare.
 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 

children on the premises.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

This licensing authority will, as per the Gambling Commission’s guidance, 
refer to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to 
operating licences covering the way in which the area containing the category 
C machines should be delineated.  This licensing authority will also make 
itself aware of any mandatory or default conditions on these premises 
licences, when they have been published.  

4. Casinos

No Casinos resolution - This licensing authority has passed a ‘no casino’ 
resolution under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, at the meeting of the 
Full Council on 2nd December 2006.  Potential licence applicants should take 
note that as a ‘no casino’ resolution has been passed by this authority no 
applications for casino premises licences will be considered.  Any applications 
received will be returned with a notification that a ‘no-casino’ resolution is in 
place.  The detailed reasons for the resolution are attached at Appendix B.

5. Bingo premises

This licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
states:

Licensing authorities will need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played 
in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence.  This will be a 
relevant consideration where the operator of an existing bingo premises 
applies to vary their licence to exclude an area of the existing premises from 
is ambit and then applies for a new premises licence, or multiple licences, for 
that or those excluded areas.

This authority also notes the unusual circumstances in which the splitting of a 
pre-existing premise into two adjacent premises might be permitted, and in 
particular that it is not permissible to locate sixteen category B3 gaming 

Page 37



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

20

machines in one of the resulting premises, as the gaming machine entitlement 
for that premises would be exceeded.

Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they are 
not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are 
made available for use these must be separated from areas where children 
and young people are allowed. 

This licensing authority notes that the holder of a Bingo premise licence may 
make available for use a number of category B gaming Machines not 
exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available 
for use on the premises.  Premises in existence before 13 July 2011 are 
entitled to make available eight category B gaming machines, or 20% of the 
total number of gaming machines, which ever is the greater.  A licence 
variation may be required if operators wishing to take advantage of this 
change in legislation need to make alterations to the structure/layout of the 
premises.

The holder of an a bingo premise licence granted on or after 13 July 2011, but 
before 1 April 2014, is entitled to make available a maximum of eight category 
B machines or 20% of the total number of gaming machines whichever is the 
greater; however, from 1 April 2014 these premises will be entitled to 20% of 
the total number of gaming machines only. Regulation state that category B 
machines at bingo premises should be restricted to sub-category B3 and B4 
machines, but not B3A lottery machines.

6. Betting premises

Betting premises are premises such as bookmakers where various types of 
gambling are authorised to take place. The Act contains a single class of 
licence for betting premises. However, within this single class there are 
different types of premises which require licensing such as normal high street 
bookmakers, bookmakers located in self-contained facilities at racecourses as 
well as the general betting premises licences that track operators will require.

Betting machines – the Council is aware that Section 181 of the Act contains 
an express power for licensing authorities to restrict the number of betting 
machines and the nature and circumstances in which they are made available 
by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence. When 
considering whether to impose a condition to restrict the number of betting 
machines in particular premises the Council, amongst other things, will take 
into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions 
available for person to person transactions and the ability of staff to monitor 
the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for 
those under18 to bet) or by vulnerable people.

Page 38



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

21

7. Tracks

This licensing authority is aware that tracks may be subject to one or more 
than one premises licence, provided each licence relates to a specified area 
of the track.  As per the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, this licensing 
authority will especially consider the impact upon the third licensing objective 
(i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling) and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of 
premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas 
where they are not permitted to enter.

This authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicants to 
demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to 
adult only gaming facilities.  It is noted that children and young persons will be 
permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days 
when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place but that they are still 
prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category 
D machines) are provided.

This licensing authority may consider measures to meet the licensing 
objectives such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self-exclusion schemes
 Self-baring schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such 
     as Gamcare

This list is neither mandatory, nor exhaustive and is merely indicative of 
example measures.

Gaming machines – Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating 
licence and is going to use the entitlement to four gaming machines, 
machines (other than category D machines) should be located in areas from 
which children are excluded. 

The Council will also consider the special implications of betting machines 
that may arise at a track due to the size of the premises and the possibility 
that machines may be scattered around the site making it more difficult for the 
track operator to comply with the law and prevent children from betting on the 
machines.

Page 39



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

22

The Council agrees with the Commission’s view that it is preferable for all self-
contained premises operated by off-course betting operators on track to be 
the subject of separate premises licences. This ensures that there is clarity 
between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the off-
course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises.

The Council will consider any Gambling Commission guidance about the 
application of conditions regarding rules being displayed. The Council may 
require the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in 
or near the betting areas, or that the rules are displayed in the race card or 
made available in leaflet form from the track office.

Track applications and plans
The Gambling Act (s51) requires applicants to submit plans of the premises 
with their application, in order to ensure that the licensing authority has the 
necessary information to make an informed judgement about whether the 
premises are fit for gambling.  The plan will also be used for the licensing 
authority to plan future premises inspection activity.

Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but should be drawn to 
scale and should be sufficiently detailed to include the information required by 
regulations.

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not 
defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks.  
In such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders 
may erect temporary structures to restrict access to premises.

In the rare cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that 
the track in question will not be specifically designed for the frequent holding 
of sporting events or races.  In such cases betting facilities may be better 
provided through occasional use notices where the boundary premises do not 
need to be defined.

It is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of betting areas on 
tracks.  The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is not 
required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is 
permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties 
associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of track.  
Applicants should provided sufficient information that this authority can satisfy 
itself that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place.  
For racecourses in particular, any betting areas subject to the “five times rule” 
(commonly known as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan.

8. Travelling Fairs

Travelling fairs have traditionally been able to provide various types of low 
stake gambling without the need for a licence or permit provided that certain 

Page 40



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

23

conditions are met and this provision continues in similar fashion under the 
new Act.

Travelling fairs have the right to provide an unlimited number of category D 
gaming machines and/or equal chance prize gaming (without the need for a 
permit) as long as the gambling amounts to no more than an ancillary 
amusement at the fair.

The Council will consider whether any fairs which take up the above 
entitlement fall within the statutory definition of a travelling fair.

The Council is aware that the 27 day statutory maximum for the land being 
used as a fair is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on 
which the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different 
travelling fairs occupying the land. The Council will work with its neighbouring 
authorities to ensure that land which crosses its boundaries is monitored so 
that the statutory limits are not exceeded.

9. Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements 
before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge 
whether a development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a 
premises licence.  There is no need for the applicant to hold an operating 
licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.

S204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the 
licensing authority for a provisional statement in respect of premises that he or 
she:

- expects to be constructed;
- expects to be altered; or
- expects to acquire a right to occupy.

The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the 
same as that for a premises licence application.  The applicant is obliged to 
give notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises 
licence.  Responsible authorities and interested parties may make 
representations and there are rights of appeal.

In contrast to the premises licence application, the applicant does not have to 
hold or have applied for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission 
(except in the case of a track) and they do not have to have a right to occupy 
the premises in respect of which their provisional application is made.

The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence 
once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired.  The licensing 
authority will be constrained in the matters it can consider when determining 
the premises licence application, and in terms of representations about 
premises licence applications that follow the grant of a provisional statement, 

Page 41



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

24

no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can 
be taken into account unless:

 they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the 
provisional statement stage, or

 they reflect a change in the applicant’s circumstances.

In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms 
different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to 
matters:

 which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 
statement stage;

 which in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; or

  where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with the 
plan submitted with the application.  This must be a substantial change 
to the plan and this licensing authority notes that it can discuss any 
concerns it has with the applicant before making a decision.

10.   Reviews:

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested 
parties or responsible authorities; for the licensing authority to decide whether 
the review is valid. This will be on the basis of whether the request for the 
review is relevant to the matters listed below: 
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives and
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of principles

The request for the review will also be subject to the consideration by the 
authority as to whether the request is frivolous, vexatious, or whether it will 
certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, 
or whether it is substantially the same as previous representations or requests 
for review.

The licensing authority can also initiate a review of a licence on the basis of 
any reason which it thinks is appropriate.

Once a valid application for a review has been received by the licensing 
authority, representations can be made by responsible authorities and 
interested parties during a 28 day period.  This period begins 7 days after the 
application was received by the licensing authority, who will publish notice of 
the application within 7 days of receipt.

Page 42



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

25

The licensing authority must carry out the review as soon as possible after the 
28 day period for making representations has passed.

The purpose of the review will be to determine whether the licensing authority 
should take any action in relation to the licence.  If action is justified, the 
options open to the licensing authority are:

(a) add, remove or amend a licence condition imposed by 
the licensing authority

(b) exclude a default condition imposed by the Secretary of 
State or Scottish Ministers (e.g. opening hours) or 
remove or amend such an exclusion;

(c) suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding 
three months; and

(d) revoke the premises licence.

In determining what action, if any, should be taken following a review, the 
licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of 
the Act, as well as any relevant representations.

In particular, the licensing authority may also initiate a review of a premises 
licence on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided 
facilities for gambling at the premises.  This is to prevent people from applying 
for licences in a speculative manner without intending to use them.

Once the review has been completed, the licensing authority must, as soon as 
possible, notify its decision to:

- the licence holder
- the applicant for review (if any)
- the Commission
- any person who made representations
- the Chief Officer of Police or Chief Constable; and
- Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

Page 43



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

26

PART C
Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre (FEC) gaming machine 
permits (Statement of Principles on Permits – Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

Where a premise does not hold a Premises Licence but wishes to provide 
gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit.  It 
should be noted that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly 
or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use (Section 238).

Guidance also states: “An application for a permit may be granted only if the 
licensing authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed 
FEC, and if the Chief Officer of Police has been consulted on the application.  
Licensing authorities might wish to consider asking applicants to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 
that is permissible in unlicensed FECs;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act; and

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes 
and prizes.”

It should be noted that a licensing authority cannot attach conditions to this 
type of permit.  

This licensing authority will expect the applicant to show that there are policies 
and procedures in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is 
not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations.  The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be 
considered on their merits, however, they may include appropriate 
measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school children on the 
premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised 
very young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived 
problems on / around the premises.  This licensing authority will also expect, 
as per Gambling Commission Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is 
permissible in unlicensed FECs; that the applicant has no relevant convictions 
(those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and that staff are trained to 
have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.

2.  (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits – (Schedule 13 
paragraph 4(1)) Automatic entitlement: 2 machines

There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the licensing 
authority.  

Page 44



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

27

The licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of 
any particular premises if:
 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of 

the licensing objectives;
 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 

section 282 of the Gambling Act (i.e. that written notice has been provided 
to the licensing authority, that a fee has been provided and that any 
relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the 
location and operation of the machine has been complied with);

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.

Permit: 3 or more machines

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 
a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon 
the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they 
think relevant”.  “Such matters” will be decided on a case by case basis with 
regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or 
being exploited by gambling and an expectation that the applicant will 
demonstrate there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year 
olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which 
will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include the adult 
machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff who will monitor that 
the machines are not being used by those under 18.  Notices and signage 
may also be of help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable persons 
applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets/helpline 
numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

Some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for their 
non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to 
be applied for and dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence.

The licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a smaller 
number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied 
for.  Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.

The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine.

3. Prize Gaming Permits

The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a 
statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions 
under this Schedule which may, in particular, specify matters that the 
licensing authority propose to consider in determining the suitability of the 
applicant for a permit”.

Page 45



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

28

This licensing authority has prepared a Statement of Principles that it 
proposes to apply, which is that the applicant should set out the types of 
gaming that he or she is intending to offer and that the applicant should be 
able to demonstrate:

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prized that are set out in 
Regulations;

  that the gaming offered is within the law;
 Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from 

harm.

In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority 
does not need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must 
have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  (Gambling Act 2005, 
Schedule 14 paragraph 8(3)).

There are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 with which the permit holder 
must comply, however the licensing authority cannot attach conditions.  The 
conditions in the Act are:

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with;

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises 
on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be 
played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result 
of the game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is 
played;

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out 
in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary 
prize); and 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling.

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes (but not Commercial Clubs) 
may apply for a Club Gaming Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit.  
The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming 
machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and 
games of chance as set out in forthcoming regulations.  A Club Gaming 
machine permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines (3 
machines of categories B, C or D).

Gambling Commission Guidance states:  Members clubs must have at least 
25 members and be established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for 
purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by separate 
regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which 
will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must 

Page 46



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

29

be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and 
controlled by its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, 
branches of Royal British Legion and clubs with political affiliations.

Before granting the permit, the Council will need to satisfy itself that the 
premises meet the requirements of a members’ club and that the majority of 
members are over 18 years of age.

The Commission Guidance also notes that licensing authorities may only 
refuse an application on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to 
receive the type of permit for which it has applied;

(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons;

(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by 
the applicant while providing gaming facilities;

(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or 

(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police.

There are statutory conditions on club gaming permits that no child uses a 
category B or C machine on the premises and that the holder complies with 
any relevant provision of a code of practice about the location and operation 
of gaming machines.

5. Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the 
premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling.  Premises that might 
be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling 
Commission, would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.

The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or 
company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote casino 
operating licence.

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can 
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this 
Statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 
(Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use 
Notices can only be used to permit the provision of facilities or equal chance 
gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single winner, which in 
practice means poker tournaments.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards temporary use notices.  The 
meaning of “premises” in part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the 
Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities.  As with “premises”, 

Page 47



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

30

the definition of “a set of premises” is defined as including “any place”.  In 
considering whether a place falls within the definition of “a set of premises”, 
the licensing authority needs to look at, amongst other things, the 
ownership/occupation and control of the premises.
 
This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their 
effect would be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described 
as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

6. Occasional Use Notices:

The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside 
from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not 
exceeded.  This licensing authority will though consider the definition of a 
‘track’ and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.

7.  Small Society Lotteries

The Act creates two principal classes of lotteries - licensed lotteries and 
exempt lotteries. Licensed lotteries are large society lotteries and lotteries run 
for the benefit of local authorities. These will be regulated by the Gambling 
Commission. Within the class of exempt lotteries, there are four sub classes, 
one of which is small society lotteries.

A small society lottery is a lottery promoted on behalf of a non-commercial 
society as defined in the Act which also meets specific financial requirements 
set out in the Act. These may be administered by the Council for small 
societies who have a principal office in the area and wish to run such a lottery.

A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery is 
£20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a 
calendar year is £250,000 or less

To be ‘non-commercial’, a society must be established and conducted:

• For charitable purposes;
• For the purpose of enabling participation in, or supporting, sport, athletics or 
a cultural activity; or
• For any other non-commercial purpose other than that of private gain.

The other types of exempt lotteries are ‘incidental non-commercial lotteries’, 
‘private lotteries’ and ‘customer lotteries’

The licensing authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its 
enforcement responsibilities for small society lotteries.  The authority 
considers that the following list, although not exhaustive, could affect the risk 
status of the operator:

Page 48



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

31

 Submission of late returns ( returns must be submitted no later that 3 
months after the date on which the lottery was held)

 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns.
 Breaches of limits for small society lotteries

Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial 
event, either as an incidental or principal activity at the event.  Events are non 
commercial if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain.  The 
proceeds of such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is 
organised:

 By, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes
 To enable participation in or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural 

activities.

If charities or community groups need further help or advice then they can 
contact the Council’s Licensing Team.

Page 49



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

32

AppendixAppendix  1:1:  TABLETABLE  OFOF  DELEGATIONSDELEGATIONS  OFOF  LICENSINGLICENSING  FUNCTIONSFUNCTIONS

MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH FULL 
COUNCIL

SUB-COMMITTEE OFFICERS

Three year licensing policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X

Fee Setting - when appropriate X (to be approved by Licensing & 
Regulatory Committee)

Application for premises licences Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Application for a variation to a licence Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of a licence Where representations have been 
received from the Commission

Where no representations 
received from the Commission

Application for a provisional statement Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Review of a premises licence X

Application for club gaming /club 
machine permits

Where representations have been 
received and not withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations have 
been withdrawn

Cancellation of club gaming/ club 
machine permits X

Applications for other permits X

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits X

Consideration of temporary use notice X

Decision to give a counter notice to a 
temporary use notice X

Small Society Lotteries Where refusal or revocation is 
recommended

Authority to grant or cancel Small 
Society registrations

Page 50



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

33

Appendix 2: No Casino Resolution

The following are the reasons for the adoption by the Council of a ‘No 
Casinos’ resolution as approved by the Council at its meeting of 
December 2nd 2006.

1. There are no Casinos in the District at present, so a precedent is not 
being set.  The decision could be reversed in three years time but it 
would place the applicant in a position to justify why a Casino Licence 
should be issued.

2. On-line gambling is available through the Internet.

3. Casino gambling is available in the cities and should be discouraged in 
a predominantly rural district, because it would bring in people from 
outside who may cause significant community safety problems.

4. The main reason for a Casino, except for the purpose of gambling, is to 
provide a social setting for meals, refreshments, drinking and 
entertainment with other like-minded people.  However, it is considered 
that there are sufficient alternative venues, which provided these 
facilities.

5. The purpose of this resolution is not only to prevent people from 
gambling and possibly running into debt, but also to discourage the 
issuing of Casino Licences for private profit, rather than the common 
good.

Page 51



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

34

Appendix 3: Map of the Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Page 52



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

35

Appendix 4: Licensing Authority’s Guidance to Operators with Regards 
to Local Area Risk Assessments
Local Gambling Risk Assessment - SAMPLE
Premises Name: Premises Licence Number (If 

Applicable): 
Premises Address: 
Post Code: 
Category of gambling premises licence: 
Name of person completing the assessment: 
Date original assessment carried out:

This risk assessment must be completed for all new premises or when the 
premises licence is varied. The assessment must also be reviewed when there 
are any significant changes to either the local circumstances and/or the premises. 

Complete a) - c) with areas that may pose a risk to the licensing objectives by 
virtue of the provision of gambling facilities at the premises having regard to Local 
Area, Gambling Operation and premises design.

a) Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime 

b) Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

c) Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

d) Control measures (based on the information above for a) – c), state the control 
measures you will put in place, e.g. systems, design and physical)

Describe the steps you intend to take to promote the three licensing objectives:

ACTIONS FOLLOWING ASSESSMENT
AREA e.g local area, 
gambling operation, 
premises design

PERSON/DEPT 
TASKED 

DATE 
TASKED

DATE TASK 
COMPLETED

Signed: Date:
PRINT NAME:

Page 53



Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Gambling Act 2005 
Statement of Principles 2019 - 2022

36

For further guidance on completing this assessment or when this assessment 
must be reviewed please refer to Gambling Commission Guidance on 
Undertaking Gambling Local Area Risk Assessments para 6.41 
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/GLA5---March-2015.pdf 

Page 54

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/pdf/GLA5---March-2015.pdf


STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Licensing & Regulatory Committee

30 November 2018

TITLE: Implementation of Personnel Checks to 
support the taxi licensing process

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities, Leisure, Parks, Sport, 
Countryside and Housing

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson - Operations Manager - 
Environmental Services (Regulatory)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific 

Appendix A – Presentation to be delivered to the Committee

1.        Reason for the Report:

1.1 The report is to update the Committee on the progress of engaging 
Personnel Checks to carry out the Disclosure and barring checks for 
new and existing drivers. 

2. Recommendations

2.1 That the Committee notes the contents of the report. 

3. Executive Summary

3.1 As part of the driver application process for a Dual Badge Driver’s 
Licence, applicants are required to undergo an enhanced DBS check, 
which reveals the details of any convictions which are recorded against 
them in relation to criminal matters. This information allows the Council 
to assess if the applicant is a fit and proper to hold a licence. 

3.2 Personnel Checks are specialists in public sector DBS checking 
solutions and deliver tailored services to a number of local authorities 
across the UK. Personnel Checks aim to simplify the DBS checking 
process through delivering a high quality, accurate and professional 
service.

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



3.3 Personnel Checks and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council have 
now entered into a partnership whereby Personnel Checks are 
contracted to carry out pre-licensing services for both Hackney Carriage 
and Private Hire Driver Applications.  

3.4 Personnel checks will be operational for Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council from 1st January 2019, all new drivers and existing 
renewal drivers will go through this new process. 

3.5 All drivers will be contacted by the Authority with instructions on how to 
use the Personnel Checks website and how to complete the on-line 
checks. 

3.6 The Operations Manager will deliver a presentation confirming the 
proposed approach to the use of Personnel Checks at the meeting.

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

4.1 The appropriate enforcement of licensing legislation in partnership with 
relevant agencies is a key tool in assuring the safety of the Authority’s 
residents.

Mr Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Appendix A – 
Presentation 

Alicia Patterson
Operations Manager - 
Environmental Services 
(Regulatory)
alicia.patterson@staffs
moorlands.gov.uk

Page 56



PERSONNEL CHECKS 

� Streamlining the Licensing Function (Taxis)

�Offering Seamless Service and Online 

payments 

�Automatic system reducing errors 

� Ensuring Compliance with Immigration 

and Document Checks 

� Reducing the overall risk to the Authority 

�Quicker Turn Around for DBS Applications 

P
age 57



HOW IT WORKS IN PRACTICE

� Dedicated Website Page with link from 
Staffordshire Moorlands D C

� All New Drivers and Renewals will go 
through this process 

� Dedicated Email Address & Telephone 
line for queries 

� Pre-Requisites for New Applicants 

� Links to Training/Safeguarding & 
Knowledge Tests 

P
age 58



Streamlining Licensing, 

Reducing Risk to the Authority

� Driver will confirm that they meet all pre-
requisites and have obtained all supporting 
documentations before they apply for their 
DBS and DVLA Checks

� Removes the need for Manual Form to be 
completed/signed off – officer time reduction 
60 minutes per application

� Removes the need for officers to answer 
queries/emails for potential drivers – officer 
time reduction 15 minutes per application 
currently receiving 10-20 per week 

P
age 59



Streamlining Licensing, 

Reducing Risk to the Authority

� Driver will then pay for their DBS & DVLA either 
on line or phone, after which personnel 
checks will email them full instructions and 
their DBS application login details and DVLA 
consent information 

� Reduces queries through the Contact Centre 
and streamlines the payment, removes the 
current arrangement with Disclosure and 
Barring Services and invoice checking and 
payment – Time saving 20 minutes  

P
age 60



Streamlining Licensing, 

Reducing Risk to the Authority

�Once applicants have completed their 
application for the driver will be required 
to attend local Crown Post Office to have 
their ID documents Certified 

� Reducing the risk to the authority for 
Counterfeit Documentation removes the 
risk for the Officer, improves right to work 
and cross references against national 
insurance numbers etc.  – Time Reduction 
15-20 Minutes per application 

P
age 61



Streamlining Licensing, 

Reducing Risk to the Authority

� Driver sends ID documents to Personnel 
Checks to verify and countersign and then 
submit to DBS and DVLA, Once checks are 
completed the Authority will be notified and 
Personnel Checks will inform the driver of the 
next steps 

� Reduces double handling of services 
requests, reduces the risk to the Authority as it 
is electronic and drivers will only come back 
to the Authority once all the checks are 
completed. Office Time Reduction 30 minutes 

P
age 62



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report to Licensing & Regulatory Committee

30 November 2018

TITLE: Licensing Enforcement Activity July 2018 – 
October 2018

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Bowen - Portfolio Holder for 
Communities, Leisure, Parks, Sport, 
Countryside and Housing

CONTACT OFFICER: Alicia Patterson - Operations Manager - 
Environmental Services (Regulatory)

WARDS INVOLVED: Non Specific

1 Recommendation

1.1 That the Committee notes the content of the report.

2 Executive Summary

2.1 In the period July 2018 to October 2018 the Licensing service has engaged in 
a number of enforcement actions. These activities have involved reactive 
responses to complaints and intelligence received from the public and partner 
agencies as well as proactive compliance checks.

2.2 Officers seek to encourage licence holders to conduct their activity in a safe 
manner, maintain good standards and to comply with the law.  Officers have to 
exercise considerable discretion when approaching individual licence holders.  
Licensees are often anxious to comply with the law and for such cases the 
officer's role will be to provide guidance and advice.  However, in carrying out 
their functions officers are authorised with a wide range of powers and may, 
for example, require entry at all reasonable times or require the production of 
certain documents. 

2.3 If on enquiry officers find evidence that the law is being broken and 
enforcement is required, they can respond in various ways.  They may instruct 
or warn by letter; revoke or suspend a licence; and, where the circumstances 
warrant it, they may formally caution or prosecute without prior warnings and 
without recourse to alternative sanctions. Officers will have due regard to the 
relevant Enforcement Policies when determining the most appropriate course 
of action.

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



2.4 Below is a summary of enforcement activity carried out during this period:

Enforcement Activity 
Letters/Emails to Taxi Drivers 
Drivers
2 Hackney
2 Private Hire
1 Operator 

Driver Penalty Points Awarded 

3 Drivers issued with penalty points for various matters including smoking in 
vehicle and for failure to notify of driving offences. 
1 Operator issued with penalty points 

Taxi Enforcement evening inspection in Cheadle (September) 

Multi Agency licensing evening enforcement carried out in Cheadle/Leek 
during August, September and October 

1 Pub Watch Meeting attended in Leek 

Compliance Checks on Licensed Premises in the District
11 Leek
13 Biddulph
9 Cheadle
1 Werrington 

10 Notice Checks on new premises

8 Follow Up letters to premises following inspection

3 Minor variation applications 

2.5 The primary focus of enforcement work to date has been on ensuring that the 
law in relation to all relevant licensing legislation and guidance is properly 
observed. In considering the focus of this activity the Licensing Service has 
had reference to:

 Those premises/vehicles against which complaints have been 
received.

 Those premises which do not hold a licence but where intelligence 
suggests licensable activity is taking place.

2.6 A variety of breaches were identified in the course of these activities, but were 
addressed by a voluntary change of behaviour on the part of the licence holder 
or via specific action by the Licensing Service and partners. In none of the 

Page 64



cases was further legal action or the application of criminal sanction 
necessary. 

2.7 During this period no complaints have been received relating to smoking on 
licensed premises, specifically:

 As part of the Health Act 2006 and associated Regulations, 
premises have to comply with signage requirements.  All premises 
visited are now compliant with displaying the required signage.

  
 No fixed penalty tickets in relation to offences of witnessed or 

reported smoking in premises have been issued.

3 How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

3.1 The appropriate enforcement of licensing Legislation in partnership with 
relevant agencies is a key tool in assuring the safety of the authorities 
residents. 

Mr Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Location Contact details

Alicia Patterson
Operations Manager - 
Environmental Services 
(Regulatory)
alicia.patterson@staffs
moorlands.gov.uk

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Meeting of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee held on 9 March 2018
	5 Gambling Policy Update
	Gambling Policy Update enc. 1
	Appendix A 1 Statement of Principles 2019-2022

	6 Review of Implementation of Personnel Checks
	Appendix A 1 Personnel Checks Presentation

	7 Licensing Enforcement Activity

